

Review Article

Reversal of Hypermethylation in Tumor Suppressor Genes using Phytochemicals in Cervical Cancer

Abstract

Cervical cancer is most familiar neoplasm among women of-world-wide. Surgery, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy are common treatments, however high stage tumors have frequently poor prognosis. HPV 16 and 18 are major etiological factors for cervix cancer. Likewise, epigenetics is the study of inherited changes and modulated gene expression without alteration in DNA sequences. In mammals epigenetic modifications include DNA methylation, histone modifications and miRNA .

Phytochemicals are mainly contained in fruits, seeds, and vegetables as well as in foods supplements. Numerous dietary compounds exhibit potent anti-tumor activities through the reversion of epigenetic alterations associated to oncogenes activation and inactivation of tumor suppressor genes in cervical cancer cell lines SiHa and HeLa, demethylation of the tumour suppressor genes such as RAR β 2, MGMT, RASSF1A, and DAPK etc. Reversal of hypermethylated genes as a tumor-suppressor gene is related to inhibition of cell proliferation, development and differentiation. The effect of phytochemicals on genetic and epigenetic modifications and how these modifications help to prevent various types of cancers and improve health outcomes.

1. Introduction

Cervical cancer is a familiar malignancy in females leading cause of death in-worldwide (Torre *et al.*, 2015). In 2018, an estimated 570,000 cases of cervix cancers occurred with 290,000 deaths (Bray *et.al*; 2018). About 80% death due to cervical cancer occur in developing countries and low middle countries (Yeole *et al.*, 2004). Although recent advances in the prognosis of patients with advanced and metastatic cervical cancer remains poor. Remedial options such as chemotherapy, surgery and radiotherapy are recommended for this cancer (Siegel *et.al*; 2016). Human papilloma viruses (HPVs) have been described as the main etiological aspects-agents in cervix cancer (Hausen *et al.*, 1987). High risk type is HPV16 that is responsible for the promotion of about 50-60% of all cervix tumor while HPV18 harbour about 10-20% of cervix cancer worldwide (Alshatwi *et al.*, 2013). In India, 122,844 females is-are diagnosed with cervical cancer and 67,477 dies from the disease annually. In 2014 high ancient rates in women for cervical cancer recorded in South Asia (22) in Bangladesh(19.2) Sri Lanka(13)and(2.8) in Iran. HPV prevalence among cervix cancer patients in India has varied from 87.8% to 96.67% (Sowjanya *et al.*,2005) Cancer is a set of disorders that are derived by aggregates of genetic and epigenetic alterations (Hanahan *et al.*,2011).Epigenetic changes are equally responsible as genetic changes in the development and progression of cancer. The word epigenetic was composed-proposed by Conrad H. Waddington in 1942 (Waddington *et al.*, 1942). Epimutation change can assist determine whether factors are turned

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Comment [U1]: Not clear!

Comment [U2]: What is in parentheses?

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

on or off controlling the production of macromolecules in particular cells (Stalker et al., 2008). These epigenetic processes are necessary which regulate the normal functions of the cell during all stages, including development, differentiation and facilitate adaptation to environmental changes, such as nutritional variation or exposure to cigarette smoke, chemicals, radiation, and hormones (Suter *et al.*, 2009).

Formatted: Font: Italic

2. Mechanism of Epigenetic modifications

The reversible nature of epigenetic changes targetsing therapeutics processes responsible for epigenetic regulation are DNA methylation, modifications in chromatin , and non-coding RNA (mi RNA) (Lim and Song 2012)

2.1 DNA methylation

DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) determined DNA methylation in the CpG dinucleotide by activating the addition of CH₃ groups from S-adenosyl- L-methionine to the 5' position of cytosine (Hotchkiss *et al.*, 1948).The methyl group regulatees the turning off of gene transcription and silencing of genes (Gruenbaum *et al.*,1981). CGs system that is closely positioned among DNA sequences additionally called CpG islands are mostly unmethylated (Jones *et al.*,2006).70–85% of CpG switch in the genome are methylated (Ehrlich *et al.*, 1982).DNA methylation is mediated by DNMTs as well such as DNMT1, DNMT2 and DNMT3s. DNMT1 is accountable for the maintenance of -methylation during replication and DNMT3s family methylase CpG dinucleotides de novo pathways and DNMT2 has been shown to specifically methylate cytosine 38 of transfer RNA (Goll *et al.*, 2006). Methylation of tRNAs has an impact on the folding and stability of the structure (Jurkowska *et al.*, 2010) DNA Hypermethylation are tumor inhibitor genes during initiation and progression in tumor whereas hypomethylated genes lead to chromosome instability and inactivation of oncogenes (Diaz *et al.*,2014)

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

2.2 Histone modification

The N-terminal tails of histones are widely altered containin acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, biotinylation and ubiquitination are essential during growth (Kouzarides *et al.*, 2011). DNA is wrapped around histones proteins called chromatin.The basic building block of chromatin referred to as nucleosome, which is formed of an octamer of histone proteins (Cedar and Bergman, 2009).There are five basic forms of histones named as H1,H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 containing amino acid residues with an amino group (Fullgrabe *et al.*, 2011) Histone alterations are assembled by enzymes like histone methyltransferases (HMTs), histone demethylases (HDMs) histone acetyltransferases (HATs), and histone deacetylases (HDACs). HMTs act to add methyl groups to lysine and/or arginine residues in histones, while HDMs remove the methyl components. In turn, HATs assemble the addition of acetyl groups to the lysine silts of histones, whereas HDACs are accountable for the removal of these groups (Doi *et.al*; 2009).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

2.3 mi RNAs

Micro RNAs, tiny non-coding governing RNAs, range in size from 17 to 25 nucleotides (Croce 2009) which are accountable for a lower translation rate and elevated degradation of mRNAs. miRNAs show the vital part in cell cycling, programmed cell death, cell differentiation, tumor development and progression (Negrini *et al.*, 2007). Non-coding RNAs, containing miRNAs, were aggression were showed to perform catalytic actions in promoting RNA splicing and it was analyzed that they participate within the post transcriptional factor modulation (Mager *et al.*, 2008). Recent phenomenon indicates that non-coding RNA (ncRNA) transcripts play an elementary role in epigenetic modulation of gene intimation and have been involved invaried epigenetic mechanisms likes transposon silencing, X-chromosome inactivation, DNA imprinting, and paramutation. Therefore miRNAs possibly can be used as biomarkers for cancer diagnosis and prognosis (Suzuki *et al.*, 2006).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

3. Reversal of hypermethylation

The methylation of CpG islands by DNA methyltransferases is reversible and has been shown to modify the transcriptional activity of key proliferation genes or transcription factors involved in suppression or promotion of cell growth (Palakurthy *et al.*, 2009). The process reversal of methylation or demethylation remove methyl groups and restores normal functions of the gene that has been turned off (Bhattacharya *et al.*, 1999). By shutting off genes within a given cell, DNA methylation can disrupt the function of cell so as to cause cancer (Mani *et al.*, 2010).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

3.1 Reversal of hypermethylation in tumor suppressor genes in cervical cancer

3.1.1 RASSF1A

The Ras association domain family 1 isoform (RASSF1A) neoplastic genes were regulated like cell cycle suppression, programmed cell death, and heredity instability that shows a vital role in suppressing Ras-mediated oncogenesis (Donninger *et al.*, 2015). RASSF1A states that moderation of each allele of a neoplasm inhibitor gene is necessary for carcinoma. Hypermethylation of RASSF1A has been described in a diversity of initial malignancy together with the cervix cancer. RASSF1A is most commonly hypermethylated neoplasm suppressor genes in human tumor and may assist as the biomarker for diseases detection (Garzon *et al.*, 2009). Numerous natural compounds such as resveratrol and curcumin all act as antioxidants that inhibits the activity of DNA methyltransferases and reactive RASSF1A in carcinoma. Thus natural compounds could perform vital agents in malignancy prevention or medical care (Burdge *et al.*, 2010).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

3.1.2 p16

The p16 gene additional called CDKN2A encodes p16INK4A that suppress the CDK4: cyclin and CDK6: cyclin D complexes (Duthie *et al.*, 2011). Hypermethylation of the p16 neoplasm suppressor gene and has effects on transcriptional down-regulation or silencing. This has been shown as one of the vital structures of p16INK4a gene inactivation in varied kinds of carcinoma such as colon cancer, thyroid cancer and cervical cancer (Hayashi *et al.*, 2001). The tea leaf polyphenol EGCG suppress DNMTs and reactivates repress neoplastic suppressor genes and DNA regulate genes through their demethylation in cancer cell lines (Yang *et al.*, 2002). The promoter methylation of the p16INK4a sequence is a common event in

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

cervix cancer and may have promising objective used as a marker for the promotion and diagnosis of diseases(Jeong *et al.*, 2006).

Formatted: Font: Italic

3.1.3 RAR β 2

Retinoic Acid Receptor (RAR β 2) is known as a cancer inhibitor gene by correlating with retinoic acid. Expression of retinoic acid receptor β (RAR β) is defined to be absent or disease controlled in cancer (Jha *et al.*, 2010). Epigenetic silencing by promoter hypermethylation ends up in retinoic acid therapy failure in breast carcinoma (Mittag *et al.*, 2006). In cervix cancer cell lines SiHa and HeLa, demethylation of the RAR β 2 promoter by the natural compounds curcumin and genistein led to reexpression of the genes. Thus, RAR β 2 could be associated epigenetic therapeutic purpose of natural compounds. Enumerate to resveratrol improved the activity of adenosine analogues to suppress methylation of the promoter of RAR β 2 gene that correlating with rising expression but resveratrol alone was ineffective (Yamanaka *et al.*, 2010).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

3.1.4 DAPK

DAPK ~~is~~ a positive mediator of the programmed cell death possessed by gamma-interferon (Deiss *et al.*, 1995). Loss of DAPK expression has been shown to occur in a ~~varied~~ variety of human malignancies, primarily by promoter hypermethylation, reported in cervical cancer (Shohat *et al.*, 2002). DAPK associates with actin microfilament and include a distinctive multidomain structure and methylated at CpG islands in numerous tumors that can be used as a biomarker for diseases identification and management (Inbal *et al.*, 1997). DAPK mRNA and macromolecules expression levels were absent or remarkably decreased in SiHa and HeLa during which the DAPK promoter was hypermethylated. The exposing levels of DAPK might be renovated after demethylation operate with 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (Dong *et al.*, 2001). To date, 5-AZA-CdR, the methyltransferase substances, ~~was~~ ~~has been~~ stated to reverse gefitinib resistance caused by DAPK promoter methylation (Jacobsen *et al.*, 2017). Curcumin (turmeric extract), the best natural antitumor agent usually sold out as associate herbal supplement, performs its cytotoxic effects via stimulation of DAPK1 macromolecules and messenger RNA over ~~er~~expression in U251 cells (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2015).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

3.1.5 CDM1

The cell adhesion molecule 1 (CADM1) gene additional called TSLC1 (Tumor suppressor of lung cancer) has been normally examined as a neoplasm inhibitor gene in numerous tumors as varied cervical cancers etc (Kuramochi *et al.*, 2001). CADM1, as a TSGs, is related to suppression of cell proliferation, moreover as induction of programmed cell death in cancer and vital role of the hypermethylation in cervix cancer (Steenbergen *et al.*, 2004). ~~In~~ ~~Recent~~ ~~studies~~ ~~eds~~ analyzed the macromolecules and mRNA expression of CADM1 in numerous cervical neoplastic cell lines, containing C33A (HPV-negative), HeLa (HPV18 positive), and SiHa and CaSki (HPV16-positive) cells, and ~~situated~~ ~~stated~~ that CADM1 was considerably ~~ly~~ downregulated in three HPV-induced cervical ~~cancers~~ (Fukuhara *et al.*, 2002). In addition intimation of CADM1 is modulated by genetic or epigenetic mechanisms (Lung *et al.*, 2006). Resveratrol is a polyphenol extracted from plants such as blueberries, cranberries, and grape

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

which has shown anti-inflammatory effects via the regulation of pathways like cell cycle, programmed cell death and tumor metastasis (Roy *et al.*, 2011)

Formatted: Font: Italic

3.1.6 MGMT

The O6 methylguanine DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) is a polymer repair macromolecules that protects the human regulating from agents and tumor conduct of endogenous cancer (Fang *et al.*, 2007). MGMT additionally induces protection to alkylating agents and it removes alkyl adducts from the O6 position of guanine in DNA, (Chen *et al.*, 2003). MGMT is then degraded by the proteasome that being in roughly 17% loss of intimation of cervical cancer, Several studies have mediated the effects of natural products on the methylation standing and release of repair genes (Yang *et al.*, 2003). In cervical cancer cells line HeLa cell lines reactivation of MGMT by Epigallocatechin-3 gallate (driven from green tea) and genistein (soybeans extract) have been shown by natural compound antioxidants potential to impact diseases prevention (Fang *et al.*, 2005)

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

4. Involvement of Phytochemicals in cancer treatment

Phytochemicals are non-nutritive plant chemicals that have defensive or disease preventive properties (Doughari *et al.*, 2009). Greek word 'phyto' means plant and chemicals indicating to a vast variety of compounds that take place naturally in plants. It is foretold that quite 5000 particular phytochemicals are recognized in grains, fruits and vegetables but an outsized proportion area unit still unknown and should be identified before understanding their health benefits in whole foods (Liu, 2004). A number of studies suggest dietary plant products as actively affecting the development and promotion of tumor, "Nutri-epigenetics" focuses on the impact of dietary agents on epigenetic mechanisms. This approach has gained significant attention; since in contrast to genetic alterations, epigenetic modifications are reversible affect early carcinogenesis (Uramova *et al.*, 2018). These phytochemicals are as follows:

Formatted: Font: Italic

4.1 Phenolics : The secondary metabolites phenolics are extensively found in fruits (Levin *et al.*, 1971). These compounds have one more aromatic rings with than other hydroxyl groups (Watson *et al.*, 2013). The main phenolic compounds that area unit is found in food may well be classified into three groups: simple phenols and phenolic acids, hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives and flavonoids. They play a fundamental role in the proliferation and production of the plants besides performing as protecting system mechanisms against pathogens, parasites, and predators (Acharya *et al.*, 2010). Simple phenols and phenolic acids are precursor to the synthesis of other complex compounds such as Flavonoids and tannins (Islam *et al.*, 2013). They act in the natural defense effective of plants to prevent them from infectious diseases and reduce the growth of pathogenic bacteria, viruses, and fungi. Hydroxycinnamic acids and their esterified derivatives in fruits and vegetables are almost completely originated from p-coumaric acid (PCA), caffeic acid (CA), and ferulic acid (FA) (Mateos *et al.*, 2006). Flavonoids as a major class of phenolic compounds exhibited highly antioxidant activity. These compounds have been connected to reducing the risk of main chronic diseases and have been recognized largely

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

in fruits, vegetables, and other plant foods (Forster *et al.*, 2013).

Formatted: Font: Italic

4.2. Carotenoids: Carotenoids as the most extensive natural pigment have gained considerable attention regarding their pro vitamin and antioxidant properties (Stahl *et al.*, 2005). These pigments are naturally found in plant and animal kingdoms. This group of fat-soluble pigments comprises more than 600 different carotenoids have been recognized in nature responsible for red, orange and yellow colors. They may be of plants, microorganisms, and/or animals origin. They have a skeleton of isoprene units containing 40-carbon (Russo *et al.*, 2007). All color fruits and vegetables are unit smart carotenoids sources. The forms of carotene pro vitamin A are found in dark green and yellow-orange leafy (like orange, tomatoes, carrot and spinach). Darker colors are associated with higher levels of pro vitamin .Carrot, tomato and papaya represent important dietary sources of β -carotene and lycopene ((Ambrósio *et al.*, 2006)).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

4.3 Alkaloids: Alkaloids are a group of round structured nitrogen containing organic compounds with a wide range of anticancer activity (Deiters *et al.*, 2004). These compounds take part in tumor suppression via prevention of enzyme topoisomerase activity that is involved in DNA imitiation, inducing programmed cell death and expression of p53 gene (Su *et al.*, 2015).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

4.4 Organo sulfur compound: Organosulfur compounds are organic compounds that can be identified similar to their sulfur containing functional groups (Giardi *et al.*,2004). Vegetables such as onion, garlic, shallots etc. belonging to allium family possess various water and fat soluble organosulfur compounds (OSCs) that have been widely implicated for numerous health-related benefits including diseases prevention, improved immunity, cardiovascular health and anti-microbial activity (Iciek *et al.*,2009). In colon cancer Caco-2 and HT-29 cells, DADS was suppose to suppress cell proliferation and cause G2 cell cycle arrest by inhibiting HDAC activity, inducing histone hyper acetylation as well as p21 (Waf1/cip1) expression (Druesne *et al.*,2004).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

4.5 Quercetin : Quercetin is a flavonoid found in fruits and vegetables such as onions, red wine, green tea, and apples. In tumor cells, quercetin blocked cell cycle and induced pro-apoptotic effects without affecting normal cells (Chirumbolo *et al.*, 2013). Quercetin is consumed daily by millions of people through nuts, tea, vegetables and herbs in the diet. It is also available as a commercial dietary supplement, and it is now being included in functional foods. The bioavailability of this compound differs among totally different food sources, being affected by the kind of glycosides containing it. Onions are considered better sources of bioavailable quercetin than apples and tea that contain rutin and other glycosides (Graefe *et al.*,2001).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

4.6 Eugenol ; Eugenol, a methoxyphenol element of clove (clove , dicot family), has been reportable for variety of medical specialty effects, as well as the suppressor , anti inflammatory, analgesic, anesthetic, antipyretic, anti platelet, anti anaphylactic, medicine, medicament, anti hyperglycemic, antibacterial drug, antifungal and antiviral effects. Eugenol and its derivatives in clove square measure potent antioxidants (Avila *et al.*,2014) that can be because of their ability to create complexes with reduced metals. Clove could be a wealthy supply of free eugenol, eugenol acetate, caryophyllene, sesquiterpene organic compound, phenyl propanoid and β -caryophyllene, (Miyazawa *et al.*,2003).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

5. Conclusion

Dietary phytochemicals hold nice promise in cancer hindrance and in medical care by ~~causation-causing~~ epigenetic modifications. ~~because—~~Since the importance of epigenetic modifications in cancer is well recognized, precise contribution of epigenetic mechanisms and cellular targets of epigenetic alterations by dietary phytochemicals in human cancer ~~desires-needs~~ more investigations. Though recent advances within the field of cancer epigenetics has increased our understanding of epigenetic changes in traditional cellular processes and abnormal events resulting in tumorigenesis, ~~but~~ deeper understanding of the worldwide patterns of epigenetic modifications by phytochemicals in cancer can result in style higher methods to forestall and cure cancer. ~~∗~~Variety of studies demonstrate dietary plant product as actively ~~touching the event and progression of tumor.~~ “Nutri-epigenetics” focuses on the influence of dietary agents on epigenetic mechanisms. This approach has gained respectable attention; since in distinction to genetic alterations, epigenetic modifications are reversible and ~~has summary sed the~~ an effect on early carcinogenesis This review shows the importance and role of natural compounds in targeting epigenetic alterations, progression, in addition as its potential chemoprevention within the context of practice of medicine.

Comment [U3]: Not clear

Comment [U4]: Not clear

References

1. Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A: 2015, Global cancer statistics. *CA Cancer J Clin.*; 65(2):87-108.
2. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A :2018 Global cancer statistics : GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.*; 68: 394-422
3. Yeole BB, Kumar AV, Kurkureet A, Sunny L: 2004, Population-based survival from cancers of breast, cervix and ovary in women in Mumbai. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.*; 5:308–315.
4. Siegel RL, Miller KD: 2018, Jemal Acer statistics. *CA Cancer J Clin.*; 66(1):7-30.
5. H.zurHausen, W. Meinhof, W. Scheiber, G.W. Bornkamm: 1974, Attempts to detect virus-specific DNA in human tumors. I. Nucleic acid hybridizations with complementary RNA of human wart virus, *Int. J. Cancer* 13 650–656.
6. Alshatwi AA, Ramesh E, Periasamy VS, Subash-Babu P: 2013, The apoptotic effect of hesperetin on human cervical cancer cells is mediated through cell cycle arrest, death receptor, and mitochondrial pathways. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, 27, 581-92
7. Sowjanya AP, Jain M, Poli UR, et al. 2005, Prevalence and distribution of high-risk human papilloma virus (HPV) types in invasive squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix and in normal women in Andhra Pradesh, India. *BMC Infect Dis.*; 5:116.
8. Hanahan D: 2011, Weinberg R. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell.*; 144: 646–674.
9. Waddington CH: 1942, The epigenotype. *Endeavour* ; 1:18–20.
10. Henikoff S, Matzke MA: 1997, Exploring and explaining epigenetic effects. *Trends Genet.*; 13:293–295.
11. Illingworth R, Kerr A, Desousa D, Jorgensen H, Ellis P, Stalker J, et al. 2008, A novel CpG island set identifies tissue-specific methylation at developmental gene loci. *PLoS Biol.*; 6:-22.
12. Suter MA: 2009 Aagaard-Tillery KM. Environmental influences on epigenetic profiles. *Semin Reprod Med*; 27: 380–390.
13. Lim U, Song MA: 2012, Dietary and lifestyle factors of DNA methylation. *Methods Mol Biol*; 863:359–376.
14. Hotchkiss RD 1948, The quantitative separation of purines, pyrimidines, and nucleosides by paper chromatography. *J Biol Chem*; 175: 315–332.
15. Gruenbaum Y, Naveh-Manly T, Cedar H, Razin A 1981, Sequence specificity of methylation in higher plant DNA. *Nature* 292:860–862.
16. Yoo CB, Jones PA: 2006, Epigenetic therapy of cancer: past, present and future. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.*; 5(1):37–50.

Comment [U5]: Is it 2004 or 2018 as indicated in text citation?

Comment [U6]: 2016 indicated in text citation?

Comment [U7]: 1987 in citation?

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

Comment [U8]: Not cited in text

Comment [U9]: Not cited in text; Stalker cited as first author!

17. Ehrlich, M., Gama-Sosa, M. A., Huang, L. H., Midgett, R. M., Kuo, K. C., McCune, R. A. and Gehrke, C:1982, Amount and distribution of 5-methylcytosine in humans DNA from different types of tissues of cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **10**, 2709-2721.
18. Goll, M.G.; Kirpekar, F.; Maggert, K.A.; Yoder, J.A.; Hsieh, C.-L.; Zhang, X.; Golic, K.G.; Jacobsen, S.E.; Bestor, T.H:2006, Methylation of tRNA^{Asp} by the DNA methyltransferase homolog Dnmt2. *Science*, 311,395–398.
19. Jurkowska, R.Z.; Jurkowski, T.P.; Jeltsch, A:2010, Structure and function of mammalian DNA methyltransferases. *Chem biochem*, 12, 206–222.
20. Diaz LA Jr, Bardelli A: 2014, Liquid biopsies: genotyping circulating tumor DNA. *J Clin Oncol*; **32**(6):579–86.
21. Kouzarides T: 2011, Regulation of chromatin by histone modifications. *Cell Res* 21: 381–395.
- 21-22. [Cedar and2009?](#)
- 22-23. Fullgrabe J, Kavanagh E, Joseph B: 2011, Histone onco-modifications. *Oncogene* 30: 3391–3403.
- 23-24. Doi A, Park I-H, Wen B, et al;2009, Differential methylation of tissue- and cancer-specific CpG island shores distinguishes human induced pluripotent stem cells, embryonic stem cells and fibroblasts. *Nat Genet*; 41(12):1350–1353.
- 24-25. Croce CM; 2009, Causes and consequences of microRNA dysregulation in cancer. *Nat Rev Genet* 10:704–714
- 25-26. Negrini M, Ferracin M, Sabbioni S, Croce CM; 2007, and MicroRNAs in human cancer: from research to therapy. *J Cell Sci*120:1833–1840
- 26-27. Mager DL, Humphries RK, Kuchenbauer F; 2008, MiRNAs, epigenetics, and cancer. *Mamm Genome*; 19(7–8):517–525.
- 27-28. Suzuki T, Miyata N; 2006, Epigenetic control using natural products and synthetic molecules. *Curr Med Chem*; 13:935–958.
- 28-29. Palakurthy RK, Wajapeyee N, Santra MK, Gazin C, Lin L, Gobeil S, Green MR; 2009, Epigenetic silencing of the *RASSF1A* tumor suppressor gene through HOXB3-mediated induction of *DNMT3B* expression. *Mol Cell* 36: 219-230, CrossRef Medline Google Scholar
- 29-30. Bhattacharya SK, Ramchandani S, Cervoni N, Szyf M;1999, A mammalian protein with specific demethylase activity for mCpG DNA. *Nature*; **397**(6720):579–83.
- 30-31. Mani, S and Z Herceg; 2010, "DNA demethylating agents and epigenetic therapy of cancer." *Adv Genet.* 70:327-40.
- 31-32. Donninger H, Clark J, Rinaldo F, Nelson N, Barnoud T, Schmidt ML et al; 2015, The *RASSF1A* tumor suppressor regulates XPA-mediated DNA repair. *Mol Cell Biol*;35(1):277-87.
- 32-33. Garzon R, Calin GA, et al; 2009, MicroRNAs in Cancer. *Annu Rev Med*; 60:167–179.
- 33-34. Burdge GC, Lillycrop KA; 2010, Nutrition, epigenetics, and developmental plasticity: implications for understanding human disease. *Annu Rev Nutr* 30:315–339.
- 34-35. Duthie SJ; 2011, Epigenetic modifications and human pathologies: cancer and CVD. *Proc Nutr Soc* 70(1):47–56.

- 35-36. Hayashi K, Yokozaki H, Naka K, Yasui W, Lotan R, Tahara E; 2001, Overexpression of retinoic acid receptor beta induces growth arrest and apoptosis in oral cancer cell lines. *Jpn J Cancer Res*; 92:42-50.
37. Yang Q, Sakurai T, Kakudo K; 2002, Retinoid, retinoic acid receptor beta and breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*; 76: 167-173.
38. *Yang, et al., 2003?*
- 36-39. *Jeong, et al., 2006?*
- 37-40. Jha AK, Nikbakht M, Parashar G, et al; 2010, Reversal of hypermethylation and reactivation of the RARbeta2 gene by natural compounds in cervical cancer cell lines. *Folia Bio (Praha)*; 56:195-200.
- 38-41. Mittag F, Kuester D, Vieth M, Peters B, Stolte B, Roessner A; 2006, Schneider-Stock R. DAPK promoter methylation is an early event in colorectal carcinogenesis. *Cancer Lett*; 240:69-75.
- 39-42. Yamanaka M, Watanabe M, Yamada Y, Takagi A, Murata T, Takahashi H, Suzuki H, Ito H, Tsukino H, Katoh T, Sugimura Y, Shiraishi T; 2003, Altered methylation of multiple genes in carcinogenesis of the prostate. *Int J Cancer*; 106:382-387.
- 40-43. Deiss LP, Feinstein E, Berissi H, Cohen O, Kimchi A; 1995, Identification of a novel serine/threonine kinase and a novel 15-kD protein as potential mediators of the gamma interferon-induced cell death. *Genes Dev*; 9:15-30.
- 41-44. Shohat G, Shani G, Eisenstein M, Kimchi A; 2002, The DAP-kinase family of proteins: study of a novel group of calcium-regulated death-promoting kinases. *Biochem Biophys Acta*; 1600:45-50.177.
- 42-45. Inbal B, Cohen O, Polak-Charcon S, Kopolovic J, Vadai E, Eisenbach L, Kimchi A; 1997, DAP kinase links the control of apoptosis to metastasis. *Nature*; 390:180-184.
- 43-46. Dong SM, Kim HS, Rha SH, Sidransky D; 2001, Promoter hypermethylation of multiple genes in carcinoma of the uterine cervix. *Clin Cancer Res*; 7:1982-1986
- 44-47. Jacobsen AV, Murphy JM; 2017, The secret life of kinases: Insights into non-catalytic signalling functions from pseudokinases. *Biochem Soc Trans*; 45:665-681.
- 45-48. Yokoyama T, Kosaka Y, Mizuguchi M.; 2015, Structural insight into the interactions between death-associated protein kinase 1 and natural flavonoids. *J Med Chem*; 58:7400-7408.
- 46-49. Kuramochi M, Fukuhara H, Nobukuni T, Kanbe T, Maruyama T, Ghosh HP, Pletcher M, Isomura M, Onizuka M, Kitamura T, et al; 2001, TSLC1 is a tumor-suppressor gene in human non-small-cell lung cancer. *Nat Genet* 27: 427-430.
- 47-50. Steenbergen RD, Kramer D, Braakhuis BJ, Stern PL, Verheijen RH, Meijer CJ and Snijders PJ; 2004, TSLC1 gene silencing in cervical cancer cell lines and cervical neoplasia. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 96: 294-305.
- 48-51. Fukuhara H, Kuramochi M, Fukami T, Kasahara K, Furuhashi M, Nobukuni T, Maruyama T, Isogai K, Sekiya T, Shuin T, et al; 2002, Promoter methylation of TSLC1 and tumor suppression by its gene product in human prostate cancer. *Jpn J Cancer Res* 93: 605-609.
- 49-52. Lung HL, Cheung AK, Xie D, Cheng Y, Kwong FM, Murakami Y, Guan XY, Sham JS, Chua D, Prottopopov AI, et al; 2006, TSLC1 is a tumor suppressor gene associated with metastasis in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Res* 66: 9385-9392.

Formatted: Font:

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font:

Formatted: Font: Italic

- 50-53. Fang M, Chen D, Yang CS; 2007, Dietary polyphenols may affect DNA methylation. *J Nutr*137(1 Suppl):223S–228S.
- 51-54. Roy SK, Chen Q, Fu J, Shankar S, Srivastava RK; 2011, Resveratrol inhibits growth of orthotopic pancreatic tumors through activation of FOXO transcription factors. *PLoS One*; 6(9):e25166.
- 52-55. Fang MZ, Wang Y, Ai N, Hou Z, Sun Y, Lu H, Welsh W, Yang CS; 2003, Tea polyphenol, epigallocatechin-3-gallate inhibits DNA methyltransferase and reactivates methylation silenced genes in cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res* 63(22):7563–7570
- 53-56. Fang MZ, Chen D, Sun Y, Jin Z, Christman JK, Yang CS; 2005, Reversal of hypermethylation and reactivation of p16INK4a, RARbeta, and MGMT genes by genistein and other isoflavones from soy. *Clin Cancer Res* 11(19 Pt 1):7033–7041.
- 54-57. Sreelatha S, Padma PR.; 2009, Antioxidant activity and total phenolic content of Moringaoleifera leaves in two stages of maturity. *Plant Foods HumNutr.*;64(4):303–11.
- 55-58. Doughari JH, Human IS, Benadé AJ, Ndakidemi PA.; 2009, Phytochemicals as chemotherapeutic agents and antioxidants: Possible solution to the control of antibiotic resistant vero cytotoxin producing bacteria. *Plantamedica.*;3(11):839–48.
- 56-59. Liu RH.; 2004, Potential synergy of phytochemicals in cancer prevention: mechanism of action.*JNutr.*;134 (12Suppl):3479S–85
- 57-60. Uramova S, Kubatka P, Dankova Z, Kapinova A, Zolakova B, Samec M, Zubor P, Zulli A, Valentova V, Kwon T K, Solar P, Kello M, KajoK, Busselberg D, Pec M, Danko J;2018, Plant natural modulators in breast cancer prevention: status quo and future perspectives reinforced by predictive, preventive, and personalized medical approach, Volume 9, Issue 4, pp 403–419
- 58-61. Levin DA: 1971, Plant Phenolics: An Ecological Perspective. *Am Nat.*;105(942):157–81
- 59-62. W.Watson G, M.BeaverL,E. WilliamsD,H. Dashwood R,HoE : 2013, Phytochemicals from cruciferous vegetables, epigenetics, and prostate cancer prevention. *AAPSJ*;15 (4):951–61.
- 60-63. Acharya A, Das I, Chandhok D, Saha T.; 2010, Redox regulation in cancer: a double-edged word with the rapeutic potential. *OxidMed Cell Longev.*;3(1):23–34.
- 61-64. Islam MB, Sarkar MMH, Shafique MZ, Jalil MA, Haque MZ, Amin R;2013,. Phytochemical screening and anti-microbial activity studies on leeamacrophylla seed extracts. *J Sci Res.*;5(2).
- 62-65. Mateos R, Goya L, Bravo L; 2006, Uptake and metabolism of hydroxyl cinnamic acids(chlorogenic, caffeic, andferulic acids) by HepG2cellsas a model of the human liver. *J Agric Food Chem.*; 54(23):8724–32.
- 63-66. Forster GM, Raina K, Kumar A, Kumar S, Agarwal R, Chen MH, et al.; 2013, Rice varietal differences in bioactive bran components for inhibition of colorectal cancer cell growth. *Food Chem.*; 141(2):1545–52.
- 64-67. Stahl W, Sies H; 2005, Bioactivity and protective effects of natural carotenoids. *Biochim Biophys Acta.*; 1740(2):101–7.
- 65-68. Russo GL; 2007,. Ins and outs of dietary phytochemicals in cancer chemoprevention. *Biochem Pharmacol.*; 74(4):533–44.
- 66-69. C. L. B. Ambrósio, F. de Arruda Camara e Siqueira Campos, and Z. P. de Faro,

Comment [U10]: Not cited in text

Comment [U11]: Not cited in text

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

2006, Carotenóides como alternativa contra a hipovitaminose A," Revista de Nutrição, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 233–243.

- 67-70. Deiters A, Martin SF; 2004. Synthesis of oxygen- and nitrogen-containing heterocycles by ring-closing meta thesis. *Chem Rev.*;104(5):2199-238.
- 68-71. Su C, Zhang P, Song X, Shi Q, Fu J, Xia X, et al; 2015. Tetrachloro benzoquinone activates Nrf 2 signaling by Keap 1 cross-linking and ubiquitin translocation but not Keap1-Cullin3 complex dissociation. *Chem Res Toxicol.*;28(4):765–74.
- 69-72. Giardi MT, Touloupakis E, Bertolotto D, Mascetti G ; 2004, Preventive or potential therapeutic value of nutraceuticals against ionizing radiation-induced oxidative stress in exposed subjects and frequent fliers. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2013; 14 (8):17168–92.
- 70-73. Iciek M, Kwiecien I, Wlodek L ; 2009, Biological properties of garlic and garlic-derived organosulfur compounds. *Environ Mol Mutagen.* 50:247–265.
- 71-74. Druesne N, Pagniez A, Mayeur C, Thomas M, Cherbuy C, Duée PH, et al ; 2004, Diallyl disulfide (DADS) increases histone acetylation and p21(waf1/cip1) expression in human colon tumor cell lines. *Carcinogenesis.* 25:1227–1236.
- 72-75. Chirumbolo, S.; 2013, Quercetin in cancer prevention and therapy. *Integr. Cancer Ther.* 12, 97–102.
- 73-76. Graefe, E.U.; Wittig, J.; Mueller, S.; Riethling, A.K.; Uehleke, B.; Drewelow, B.; Pforte, H.; Jacobasch, G.; Derendorf, H.; Veit, M ; 2001, Pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of quercetin glycosides in humans. *J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 41, 492–499.
- 74-77. D'Avila Farias M, Oliveira PS, Dutra FS, Fernandes TJ, de Pereira CM, de Oliveira SQ, et al; 2014, Eugenol derivatives as potential anti-oxidants: is phenolic hydroxyl necessary to obtain an effect? *J Pharm Pharmacol.*;66:733-46.
- 75-78. Miyazawa M, Hisama M. ; 2003, Antimutagenic activity of Phenylpropanoids from clove (*Syzygium aromaticum*). *J Agric Food Chem.* 51:6413-22.